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BEFORE THE IOWA WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSIONER

______________________________________________________________________



  :

ALIJA SARACEVIC,
  :                      File No. 5037282


  :


Claimant,
  :



  :                    A R B I T R A T I O N
vs.

  :



  :                         D E C I S I O N
TYSON FOODS, INC.,
  :



  :  


Employer,
  :             Head Note Nos.:  1100, 1108

Self-Insured,
  :


Defendant.
  : 

______________________________________________________________________

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Claimant, Alija Saracevic, filed a petition in arbitration seeking workers’ compensation benefits from Tyson Foods, Inc., self-insured employer, as defendant, as a result of an alleged injury sustained on March 24, 2010.  This matter came on for hearing before Deputy Workers’ Compensation Commissioner, Erica J. Fitch (f/k/a Erica J. Elliott), on June 13, 2012, in Waterloo, Iowa.  The record in this case consists of claimant’s exhibits 1 through 13, defendant’s exhibits A through I, and the testimony of claimant, Sedjalia Saracevic, and Mary Jones.  Although admitted into evidence, the undersigned will not consider defendant’s Exhibit D.  Exhibit D refers to patient, Alija Saric, regarding a work injury sustained on September 23, 2010.  Such records are irrelevant and improperly offered into evidence.  The proceedings were translated by Vildana Tinjic.  The parties submitted post-hearing briefs, the matter being fully submitted on July 16, 2012.
ISSUES

The parties submitted the following issues for determination:

1. Whether claimant sustained an injury arising out of and in the course of her employment on March 24, 2010;

2. Whether the alleged injury is a cause of temporary disability; 

3. Whether claimant is entitled to temporary disability benefits from October 18, 2010 through November 2, 2011; 

4. Whether the alleged injury is a cause of permanent disability; 

5. The extent of industrial disability; 

6. The proper rate of compensation; 

7. Whether claimant is entitled to payment of various medical expenses detailed at Exhibit 11; 

8. Whether claimant is entitled to payment for an independent medical examination; 

9. Whether claimant is entitled to penalty benefits and if so, how much; and

10. Specific taxation of costs. 

The stipulations of the parties in the hearing report are incorporated by reference in this decision.  

FINDINGS OF FACT

The undersigned, having considered all of the evidence and testimony in the record, finds:

Claimant’s testimony was consistent as compared to the evidentiary record and her physical demonstrations at hearing.  Her demeanor at the time of evidentiary hearing gave the undersigned no reason to doubt claimant’s veracity.  Claimant is found credible.

Claimant was 49 years of age at the time of hearing.  Claimant was born in Bosnia, where she attended school through the 8th grade.  She has no other formal education or training, with the exception of a three-month English course taken in the United States through refugee services.  (Claimant’s testimony; Exhibit 9, page 3)  Claimant is a widow; she is a single parent to three children.  All three of claimant’s children live with and receive support from claimant.  On the alleged date of injury, the children were ages 14, 19, and 27.  The two youngest sons attended school.  The oldest of the three receives Social Security disability benefits.  (Claimant’s testimony; Ex. 9, p. 2)  Claimant is left-hand dominant.  (Ex. 9, p. 6)  

While claimant remained in Bosnia, she did not work.  She was a refugee from 1995 to 2002, when she immigrated to the United States.  Upon arriving in the United States, claimant lived in Idaho and worked as a dishwasher in a Nevada casino for two years.  She worked full time and earned $7.00 to $8.00 per hour.  Due to the commute, claimant took a job at a cleaning company, cleaning, ironing and hanging clothes.  Claimant earned $7.00 to $8.00 per hour and worked in this position for approximately two months before moving to Iowa upon advice from family who worked at defendant.  (Claimant’s testimony; Ex. 9, p. 4)

Claimant applied for work at defendant in August 2004.  As a portion of the application process, claimant underwent a physical examination.  Examination findings revealed normal range of motion of the wrists and shoulders.  (Ex. 8, p. 4)  Claimant began work on August 31, 2004 in the position of shave hogs.  Claimant testified her duties required her to shave multiple areas of hogs as they passed by on a line in front of her.  (Claimant’s testimony)  Defendant’s job description for the position of shave hogs outlines three job components, (1) shave hams, (2) shave sides, and (3) shave shoulders/jowl/head.  Employees are required to shave remaining hair from these portions of hog carcasses.  The job description requires the ability to flex or abduct the shoulder from zero to 90 degrees.  (Ex. B, p. 12; Ex. G)  

Claimant testified she worked full time for defendant, typically working 40 hours per week, plus overtime.  She acknowledged her weekly hours varied, including weeks below and above 40 hours per week.  At the time of the alleged work injury, claimant earned $12.95 per hour.  (Claimant’s testimony)

Exhibit F contains two short video clips of employees performing the shave hams portion of the shave hogs job.  The first clip lasts 43 seconds and reveals an individual holding a straight razor/knife in her hand.  She uses this razor to shave portions of hogs as the hogs pass by, hanging inverted from a conveyor system.  The hogs pass at a rather rapid pace.  The individual performs much of her work at approximately mid-torso; she does not reach above shoulder height.  The shaving work, although fast paced, does not seem to require a great deal of force.  The second video lasts 47 seconds and portrays another individual performing the same tasks.  Again, the majority of work is performed mid-torso level.  This individual occasionally reaches to a height near shoulder height, but does not appear to reach a 90 degree angle and never works above shoulder height.  As with the other employee, this individual does not appear to place much force on the razor.  (Ex. F)  

At evidentiary hearing, claimant viewed the video clips at Exhibit F.  Claimant testified the videos depicted only one of the three components of her job, shave hams.  In this position, employees are required to shave the buttocks region of the hog.  Claimant testified this requires shaving in an up-and-down pattern, with little movement of the hand.  Claimant testified shaving of the chest region requires up-and-down shaving in longer strokes.  Shaving of the head requires employees to hold the hog ears with one hand and shave with the other hand.  To shave the nose, chin, and neck, employees shave from the neck up.  (Claimant’s testimony)

Claimant testified the shaving of the hog happens in three stages, in three different positions.  Shaving of the buttocks is completed first.  To move to stage two, shaving of the chest, employees step down into a lower position, so the hanging hogs are located higher relative to the employee’s body.  Stage three, shaving of the heads, occurs a few steps below the shaving of the chest.  Employees are then level with the heads of the hogs.  Claimant testified the shaving process has different levels of difficulty, with shaving of the buttocks the easiest, followed by shaving of heads.  The most difficult portion is shaving of the chest region, as claimant demonstrated the length of stroke stretches from approximately her head level to below her waist.  Claimant testified she rotated through these three positions.  She testified she completed approximately 100 movements of the hand every minute and worked an eight-hour shift.  (Claimant’s testimony)

At evidentiary hearing, claimant demonstrated the process of shaving hogs.  When doing so, she used her right arm as opposed to her dominant left arm.  She explained she did so as completing the moves with the left was painful.   

Mary Jones, nurse manager for defendant, testified at evidentiary hearing.  Ms. Jones testified she observed the three-stage shave hogs process.  Ms. Jones testified the line carrying the hogs is maintained at the same height.  The workers are at three different levels: buttocks/hams highest, chest/ribs lower, and head at lowest level.  She explained this configuration existed for ergonomic reasons, to maintain the work level at approximately the same level throughout the process.  Ms. Jones viewed the shave hams video and testified workers use approximately the same motion throughout the process, although longer strokes than depicted may be required at times.  Ms. Jones also testified additional platforms are available to add height for shorter workers; she was unaware if claimant personally made use of such a platform.  (Ms. Jones’ testimony)

Ms. Jones’ testimony was consistent with the credible testimony of claimant and the evidence in the evidentiary record.  Her demeanor at the time of evidentiary hearing gave the undersigned no reason to doubt her veracity.  Ms. Jones is found credible.

In February 2010, claimant developed pain in her left shoulder, arm, and fingers.  Claimant testified she informed her supervisors of her difficulties.  Claimant later secured a translator and presented to health services, where she informed defendant’s medical staff she developed pain in the left upper arm, shoulder, and neck.  On March 24, 2010, a workers’ compensation claim was opened and claimant was placed on the light duty job of monitor fecal at heads.  Claimant continued to follow-up with defendant’s health services department, without relief.  Defendant arranged for additional medical treatment.  (Ex 13, p. 1)  

Claimant presented to Allen Occupational Health (Allen Hospital) on April 15, 2010.  Records reveal a gradual onset of left shoulder symptoms beginning in February 2010 while raising her arm to shave hogs.  (Ex. 7, p. 2; Ex. A, p. 4)  Claimant testified she informed Allen Hospital staff she believed her symptoms resulted from using a knife at work and explained her job requirements.  (Claimant’s testimony)  Claimant received an injection.  (Ex. A, p. 6)  Claimant was placed under work restrictions consisting of keeping the left arm at her side, no work at or above shoulder level with the left arm, no lifting below the knee or above the shoulder with the left arm, and limited pushing, pulling, and reaching with the left arm.  (Ex. 7, p. 3; Ex. A, p. 5)  Claimant continued to follow-up with Dr. McMains at Allen Hospital.  Dr. McMains noted good relief with the injection and recommended physical therapy.  He continued to restrict claimant’s work activities with the left arm.  (Ex. A, pp. 6-7)   

An MRI of the left shoulder taken May 28, 2010 revealed calcific supraspinatus tendonitis, but no rotator cuff tear.  (Ex. A, p. 1)  Following the MRI, claimant continued to follow-up at Allen Hospital, specifically with Dr. McMains.  (Ex. 13, p. 3; See Ex. A)  On June 25, 2010, Dr. McMains assessed calcific deposits of the left shoulder and recommended continued physical therapy and work restrictions.  (Ex. 13, p. 3; Ex. A, p. 12)  Claimant participated in physical therapy from April 23, 2010 through July 6, 2010.  (Ex. 5, pp. 1-9)  On July 9, 2010, claimant’s care was referred to an orthopedist.  (Ex. 13, p. 4)

On July 27, 2010, claimant returned to Allen Hospital and was evaluated by orthopedic surgeon, Thomas Gorsche, M.D.  Dr. Gorsche indicated he reviewed claimant’s MRI and 37 pages of medical records.  (Ex. B, pp. 1-3)  Claimant testified she informed Dr. Gorsche she believed her symptoms resulted from using a knife at work and explained her job requirements.  (Claimant’s testimony)  Dr. Gorsche assessed calcific supraspinatus tendonitis of the left shoulder and probable left carpal tunnel syndrome.  Dr. Gorsche performed a subacromial injection.  He recommended nerve conduction studies and continued claimant’s work restrictions.  (Ex. B, pp. 1-3)

Brian Siree, M.D., performed nerve conduction studies of the left arm on August 13, 2010.  Dr. Siree opined testing revealed minimal borderline findings for left carpal tunnel syndrome and no evidence for polyneuropathy or other entrapment injury.  (Ex. C)  Dr. Siree authored a letter to Dr. McMains dated August 13, 2010.  He opined claimant’s nerve conduction studies supported an overuse syndrome of the left arm, resulting in significant left shoulder pain and symptoms suggestive of carpal tunnel.  While the test findings were borderline for carpal tunnel syndrome and claimant likely demonstrated some symptoms consistent with carpal tunnel, Dr. Siree opined claimant’s test findings were supportive of an overuse syndrome.  (Ex. 6, p. 1) 

Claimant returned to Dr. Gorsche on August 25, 2010.  At that time, claimant reported no relief with subacromial injection.  Dr. Gorsche opined claimant’s nerve conduction studies were negative, but very borderline for carpal tunnel, which he noted did not fit claimant’s complaints.  He performed a left shoulder AC joint injection and continued claimant’s light duty.  (Ex. B, pp. 5-6)  

Claimant reported no relief with AC joint injection at follow-up with Dr. Gorsche on September 8, 2010.  At that time, he recommended surgical excision of left shoulder calcifications.  Dr. Gorsche indicated he would seek approval of the procedure through defendant.  (Ex. B, pp. 7-9)

On September 24, 2010, defendant authored a letter to Dr. Gorsche seeking clarification of whether claimant’s work aggravated or lit up claimant’s left shoulder condition.  In response, Dr. Gorsche indicated claimant’s work activities did not cause or physically worsen claimant’s left shoulder condition.  (Ex. B, p. 10)  Dr. Gorsche further indicated the left shoulder condition was temporarily aggravated by her work at defendant.  Specifically, he opined claimant’s calcium deposit was not caused by work, but her repetitive activity could exacerbate her symptoms.  (Ex. B, p. 11)  In regard to inquiry as to whether claimant’s need for surgery was causally related to the alleged March 24, 2008 work injury, Dr. Gorsche opined: 

The tendonitis could possibly be related to work.  Work could exacerbate sxs of the calcium in the tendon but did not cause the calcium deposit.  

(Ex. B, p. 11)  

Defendant denied liability and closed claimant’s workers’ compensation claim in October 2010.  (Ex. 13, pp. 6-7)

Claimant presented to personal physician, Vinko Bogdanic, M.D., with shoulder complaints.  She explained her workers’ compensation claim had been denied.  Dr. Bogdanic excused claimant from work from November 1 through November 15, 2010.  He also referred claimant to Arnold Delbridge, M.D.  (Claimant’s testimony; Ex. 2, pp. 1-2)

On November 15, 2010, claimant presented to Dr. Delbridge for evaluation.  At that time, Dr. Delbridge performed a cortisone injection in claimant’s left shoulder.  (Ex. 3, p. 1)  Claimant testified she demonstrated her job duties for Dr. Delbridge, similar to the manner she did so at evidentiary hearing.  (Claimant’s testimony)

Claimant continued to follow-up with Dr. Delbridge.  She reported limited relief with the cortisone injection.  Dr. Delbridge ordered nerve conduction testing and recommended surgical intervention.  (Ex. 3, p. 2)

Claimant underwent EMG and nerve conduction testing of the left upper extremity with Ivo Bekavac, M.D., on November 29, 2010.  Dr. Bekavac opined results revealed median neuropathy at or distal to the wrist, consistent with mild carpal tunnel syndrome.  (Ex. 4, pp. 1-2)    

Dr. Delbridge reviewed claimant’s nerve conduction results and assessed left carpal tunnel syndrome.  (Ex. 3, p. 3)

Dr. Delbridge performed surgery on December 9, 2010, consisting of diagnostic arthroscopy of the left shoulder, arthroscopy of the subacromial area with bursectomy of the shoulder and some acromioplasty, arthrotomy of the left shoulder and removal of calcium deposit from the infraspinatus tendon, and release of the left carpal tunnel.  Dr. Delbridge opined postoperative diagnoses of calcium deposits in the infraspinatus tendon near its insertion, mild impingement of the left shoulder, and carpal tunnel syndrome of the left wrist.  (Ex. 3, pp. 4-5; Ex. A, pp. 2-3)

Following surgery, claimant continued to follow-up with Dr. Delbridge.  Dr. Delbridge’s course of treatment included physical therapy rehabilitation of the shoulder through April 22, 2011.  Physical therapy records consistently note a history of rotator cuff tear.  (Ex. 1, pp. 1-5; Ex. 3, p. 10)  Perplexingly, Dr. Delbridge’s records of January 17, February 7, February 28, and March 28, 2011 all reference a diagnosis of a rotator cuff tear.  (Ex. 3, pp. 10-13)  On March 28, 2011, Dr. Delbridge performed a repeat injection of claimant’s left shoulder.  (Ex. 3, p. 13) 

Dr. Delbridge released claimant to return to work under permanent restrictions on June 6, 2011.  Assigned restrictions included no work above shoulder level with the left arm and no repetitive reaching far away from the body with the left hand.  (Ex. 3, pp. 16, 19)  Following assignment of restrictions, Dr. Delbridge opined claimant unable to perform the shave hogs job.  He reviewed numerous job videos and approved claimant returning to work in a position entitled resecting spinal cords.  Dr. Delbridge determined this position did not require repetitive reaching above shoulder level, as he believed was required in claimant’s prior position.  Dr. Delbridge ultimately discharged claimant from care on November 14, 2011.  (Ex. 3, p. 24)

Claimant remained employed in the position of resecting spinal cords on the date of evidentiary hearing.  Claimant testified she is able to complete her “vacuuming” duties (i.e. resecting the spinal cord) with her right arm.  She expressed desire to continue working for defendant in this position.  Claimant works full time.  Her hours vary as they did prior to the alleged work injury, sometimes working fewer or greater than 40 hours per week.  She earned $13.65 per hour on the date of evidentiary hearing.  (Claimant’s testimony)  

Dr. Delbridge authored a letter to claimant’s counsel dated January 30, 2012.  In preparation of the letter, Dr. Delbridge indicated he reviewed his records, answers to interrogatories regarding the injury, and Dr. Gorsche’s note of October 1, 2010, took claimant’s history, and performed an examination on January 12, 2012.  Dr. Delbridge noted he did not possess all of claimant’s medical records.  (Ex. 3, p. 22)

Dr. Delbridge described claimant’s work shaving hogs as “extremely repetitive.”  He further indicated claimant did not engage in any activities outside of work which required such repetition.  Dr. Delbridge opined it impossible to know when the calcium deposit occurred, but opined claimant’s repetitive work resulted in pain, weakness, and decreased range of motion.  (Ex. 3, p. 25)  He opined: 

The job she had at [defendant] probably caused the tendonitis and limitation of motion of her shoulder and pain and her subsequent impairment.  Certainly, it is probable that the motions at [defendant], considering that the tendon was degenerative and calcified, materially aggravated that condition to the point where she could not work and caused the need for surgical treatment.  

(Ex. 3, p. 25)

On examination of the left shoulder on January 12, 2012, Dr. Delbridge noted forward flexion of 120 degrees.  He explained this loss of 60 degrees of flexion corresponded to a 4 percent upper extremity impairment.  Dr. Delbridge measured abduction to 130 degrees, a loss of 50 degrees, which corresponded to a 2 percent upper extremity impairment.  Due to some weakness in external rotation, extension, flexion, and abduction of the left shoulder, Dr. Delbridge opined claimant sustained a 5 percent impairment to the left upper extremity.  Dr. Delbridge combined claimant’s 6 percent impairment for loss of range of motion and 5 percent impairment for weakness to arrive at a combined impairment to the left shoulder of 11 percent left upper extremity or 7 percent whole person.  Dr. Delbridge noted marked improvement in claimant’s range of motion and weakness following surgical intervention.  (Ex. 3, p. 24)  

Although claimant had returned to work in the resecting spinal cords job, Dr. Delbridge expressed uncertainty regarding the long-term prospects of claimant’s left shoulder “stand[ing] up to her job.”  (Ex. 3, p. 25)  He recommended no additional treatment, with the caveat claimant may require a repeat injection or physical therapy should the tendonitis recur.  Dr. Delbridge also raised the possibility of additional surgery at some future date.  (Ex. 3, p. 25)

With regard to claimant’s left carpal tunnel condition, Dr. Delbridge noted improvement in numbness and tingling following surgery.  Due to claimant’s “extremely repetitive job” over a long period, Dr. Delbridge related claimant’s carpal tunnel condition to her work duties.  He opined claimant sustained a 3 percent left upper extremity impairment as a result of the carpal tunnel condition.  When the carpal tunnel impairment is combined with the left shoulder impairment, Dr. Delbridge found a combined permanent impairment of 14 percent left upper extremity or 8 percent whole person.  (Ex. 3, p. 25)     

On March 26, 2012, claimant presented to board certified orthopedic surgeon, Scott Neff, D.O., for defendant’s independent medical evaluation (IME).  Dr. Neff performed a history and reviewed various medical records.  (Ex. E, p. 3)  Claimant testified she informed Dr. Neff she believed her symptoms resulted from using a knife at work and explained her job requirements.  Claimant testified she did not physically demonstrate her prior job duties for Dr. Neff.  (Claimant’s testimony)  X-rays of the right and left shoulders, taken March 26, 2012, revealed symmetrical degenerative changes of the AC joints, consistent with age.  Dr. Neff also observed mild changes of the acromion consistent with a developmental type II acromion.  He observed no residual calcific supraspinatus tendonitis.  (Ex. E p. 3)  

On examination, Dr. Neff noted some inconsistency in claimant’s range of motion testing and consequently, opined claimant’s active range of motion testing invalid.  He further noted significantly reduced range of motion from Dr. Delbridge’s report of January 30, 2012, deterioration so significant he opined “no logical reason” for the decrease.  Dr. Neff therefore concluded claimant did not demonstrate maximum effort and found her range of motion test results unreliable.  (Ex. E, p. 4)  

Dr. Neff indicated he performed an internet search regarding causation of calcific supraspinatus tendonitis.  He opined most authors identified no specific cause of the condition; the condition is opined to be idiopathic in nature.  (Ex. E, p. 4)  Dr. Neff opined: 

Based on the information in the records, my experience, and examination of this individual I cannot attribute a direct causation of work activity to the development of calcific supraspinatus tendonitis.  Impingement syndrome commonly occurs as a result of repetitive overhead, repetitive use of the arm.  Based on my review of the records the main cause for this claimant’s pain was calcific supraspinatus tendonitis which indeed can be a painful condition.  Consequently, I cannot associate or attribute direct causation from work activity to the development of calcific supraspinatus tendonitis.  

(Ex. E, p. 4)   

Dr. Neff opined surgery performed by Dr. Delbridge was medically necessary but not specifically due to claimant’s work activities.  He opined claimant sustained permanent impairment of six percent left upper extremity due to loss of range of motion as a result of the left shoulder condition and deferred to the work restrictions imposed by Dr. Delbridge.  (Ex. E, p. 5)

With regard to claimant’s left wrist, Dr. Neff opined claimant’s repetitive work activities substantially contributed to development of carpal tunnel syndrome.  Based upon examination results, Dr. Neff opined claimant sustained zero permanent impairment as a result of the carpal tunnel condition.  He recommended permanent restrictions on use of the left hand, including avoidance of intense vibrating tools, impact tools, and tools requiring intense grip and pinch.  Dr. Neff opined claimant’s existing job position fit well within these restrictions and recommended continuation of that placement.  (Ex. E, p. 5) 

Defendant’s counsel subsequently provided Dr. Neff with a video depiction of a job entitled “job shave hams.”  Dr. Neff opined the shaving action did not require significant force.  He opined the job did require repetitive up-and-down movements, but no actions required work at or above shoulder elevation.  After review of this video, Dr. Neff opined the job duties would not cause or materially aggravate an injury to the left upper extremity and did not contribute to claimant’s need for left shoulder surgery.  He further opined it difficult to causally associate the work activities with claimant’s carpal tunnel condition, as the video did not depict forced flexion, intense grip, intense rotation, use of a tool in an abnormal position, or intense force, pushing, or cutting.  Following review of the video, Dr. Neff opined claimant’s work activities did not cause or contribute to the need for arthroscopic surgery nor likely contribute to the development of carpal or cubital tunnel.  (Ex. E, pp. 7-8) 

On May 5, 2012, Dr. Gorsche authored a letter to defendant’s counsel.  Dr. Gorsche indicated he reviewed his office notes, claimant’s MRI report, Dr. Delbridge’s operative report and report of January 30, 2010, and a DVD depicting claimant’s former job.  Dr. Gorsche noted the video revealed no above shoulder work, with the shoulder flexing a maximum of 30 to 45 degrees.  He explained calcific deposits generally occur after the age of 40 and may be associated with areas of tendon degeneration.  Such deposits can be associated with mild to moderate chronic shoulder pain.  (Ex. B, p. 13)  He further explained: 

As you know, [claimant] had calcific tendinitis of the left shoulder.  She had an MRI performed on May 28, 2010.  On that MRI, there is no bony outlet impingement, and she has a type I acromion.  The only positive finding was a 6 mm calcium deposit in the distal supraspinatus tendon.  There was no evidence by MRI of any degeneration of the rotator cuff.  

Patients who have calcium deposits in their shoulder are more likely to become symptomatic if they have an impingement syndrome, that is a type 3 acromion or degenerative changes of the acromioclavicular joint causing impingement on the rotator cuff while the arm is abducted.  Also repetitive overhead work, that is above 90 degrees, could also aggravate the calcium deposit.

(Ex. B, pp. 13-14)

In applying these facts to claimant’s condition and work duties, Dr. Gorsche noted claimant was not required to flex the shoulder past 45 degrees and abducted less than 20 degrees.  He further noted claimant’s MRI revealed a type I acromion and no evidence of impingement syndrome.  In review of Dr. Delbridge’s operative note, Dr. Gorsche noted no mention of a degenerative acromioclavicular joint.  Dr. Gorsche also explained medical literature did not support a causal relationship between repetitive motion and development of calcific tendonitis.  Following his discussion, Dr. Gorsche opined:  

In summary, [claimant] has suffered from calcific tendinitis of the left shoulder.  There is nothing in the medical literature to suggest this is secondary to repetitive motion.  It can be associated with degenerative cuff tears, which [claimant] did not have.  Calcific tendinitis can be aggravated with an impingement syndrome or degenerative changes of the AC joint, which [claimant] had neither of those.  In my opinion, it can be aggravated with repetitive forward flexion above 90 degrees or abduction above 90 degrees.  In review of the DVD, [claimant] did not perform job duties that required that motion.  

In my medical opinion based on a reasonable degree of medical certainty, [claimant] suffered from calcific tendinitis of the left shoulder, which was causing her shoulder pain but there is nothing to suggest it was related in any way to her job duties at [defendant] nor aggravated by any job duties that she performed at [defendant].

(Ex. B, p. 14)

Claimant’s counsel provided Dr. Delbridge with Dr. Neff’s IME report.  Dr. Delbridge authored a responsive letter to claimant’s counsel dated May 9, 2012.  Dr. Delbridge initially noted both Dr. Neff and Dr. Gorsche opined claimant’s calcific tendonitis of the left shoulder was not causally related to her work at defendant.  He noted Dr. Gorsche did not have the benefit of examining claimant at a later date and observe that the exacerbation did not subside.  (Ex. 3, p. 27)  Dr. Delbridge indicated claimant’s counsel had identified a lack of detail in Dr. Neff’s report into the “extreme repetition” of claimant’s shave hogs job.  Dr. Delbridge described the extreme repetitive nature of the job and noted the difficulty of shaving hair from hogs in the winter months.  He again highlighted a lack of similarly repetitive activities outside of work.  (Ex. 3, pp. 27-28)

With regard to causation of claimant’s left shoulder condition, Dr. Delbridge again stated he was unable to pinpoint the development of the calcium deposit.  (Ex. 3, p. 28)  With regard to whether claimant’s work activities worsened claimant’s condition, Dr. Delbridge stated:

It is also noted that she had impingement syndrome of her shoulder and that her job at [defendant] materially aggravated her degenerative calcified tendon to the point where she could not work and required surgical intervention.  An exacerbation is opined by other physicians.  An exacerbation is reversible; a material aggravation is not.  My conclusion is that [claimant] had a material aggravation of her shoulder as a result of her extremely repetitive work of shave hogs at [defendant].

(Ex. 3, p. 28)    

Claimant testified her left shoulder condition improved significantly following surgical intervention.  Although she continues to have occasional pain, the pain level is incomparable to that which she suffered with pre-surgery.  Claimant reported some limitation in her left arm, as she is unable to elevate or extend her arm and is unable to lift as she did prior to the alleged work injury.  Claimant testified surgery also helped her carpal tunnel symptoms.  Claimant is pleased she underwent surgery.  (Claimant’s testimony) 

Claimant’s middle son, Sedjalia Saracevic, testified at evidentiary hearing.  He testified his mother complained her left arm hurt because of shaving hogs at work.  Mr. Saracevic testified his mother’s condition improved following surgery.  He observed some residual problems, as she is unable to carry heavy items and perform household tasks.  Mr. Saracevic testified he performs the vacuuming and dishwashing chores.  (Mr. Saracevic’s testimony)
Mr. Saracevic’s testimony was consistent with the credible testimony of his mother, and his demeanor at the time of evidentiary hearing gave the undersigned no reason to doubt his veracity.  Mr. Saracevic is found credible.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The first issue for determination is whether claimant sustained an injury arising out of and in the course of her employment on March 24, 2010.

The party who would suffer loss if an issue were not established has the burden of proving that issue by a preponderance of the evidence.  Iowa R. App. P. 6.14(6).

The claimant has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the alleged injury actually occurred and that it both arose out of and in the course of the employment.  Quaker Oats Co. v. Ciha, 552 N.W.2d 143 (Iowa 1996); Miedema v. Dial Corp., 551 N.W.2d 309 (Iowa 1996).  The words “arising out of” referred to the cause or source of the injury.  The words “in the course of” refer to the time, place, and circumstances of the injury.  2800 Corp. v. Fernandez, 528 N.W.2d 124 (Iowa 1995).  An injury arises out of the employment when a causal relationship exists between the injury and the employment.  Miedema, 551 N.W.2d 309.  The injury must be a rational consequence of a hazard connected with the employment and not merely incidental to the employment.  Koehler Electric v. Wills, 608 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2000); Miedema, 551 N.W.2d 309.  An injury occurs “in the course of” employment when it happens within a period of employment at a place where the employee reasonably may be when performing employment duties and while the employee is fulfilling those duties or doing an activity incidental to them.  Ciha, 552 N.W.2d 143.

A personal injury contemplated by the workers’ compensation law means an injury, the impairment of health or a disease resulting from an injury which comes about, not through the natural building up and tearing down of the human body, but because of trauma.  The injury must be something that acts extraneously to the natural processes of nature and thereby impairs the health, interrupts or otherwise destroys or damages a part or all of the body.  Although many injuries have a traumatic onset, there is no requirement for a special incident or an unusual occurrence.  Injuries which result from cumulative trauma are compensable.  Increased disability from a prior injury, even if brought about by further work, does not constitute a new injury, however.  St. Luke’s Hosp. v. Gray, 604 N.W.2d 646 (Iowa 2000); Ellingson v. Fleetguard, Inc., 599 N.W.2d 440 (Iowa 1999); Dunlavey v. Economy Fire and Cas. Co., 526 N.W.2d 845 (Iowa 1995); McKeever Custom Cabinets v. Smith, 379 N.W.2d 368 (Iowa 1985).  An occupational disease covered by chapter 85A is specifically excluded from the definition of personal injury.  Iowa Code section 85.61(4) (b); Iowa Code section 85A.8; Iowa Code section 85A.14.

When the injury develops gradually over time, the cumulative injury rule applies.  The date of injury for cumulative injury purposes is the date on which the disability manifests.  Manifestation is best characterized as that date on which both the fact of injury and the causal relationship of the injury to the claimant’s employment would be plainly apparent to a reasonable person.  The date of manifestation inherently is a fact based determination.  The fact-finder is entitled to substantial latitude in making this determination and may consider a variety of factors, none of which is necessarily dispositive in establishing a manifestation date.  Among others, the factors may include missing work when the condition prevents performing the job, or receiving significant medical care for the condition.  For time limitation purposes, the discovery rule then becomes pertinent so the statute of limitations does not begin to run until the employee, as a reasonable person, knows or should know, that the cumulative injury condition is serious enough to have a permanent, adverse impact on his or her employment.  Herrera v. IBP, Inc., 633 N.W.2d 284 (Iowa 2001); Oscar Mayer Foods Corp. v. Tasler, 483 N.W.2d 824 (Iowa 1992); McKeever Custom Cabinets v. Smith, 379 N.W.2d 368 (Iowa 1985).

While a claimant is not entitled to compensation for the results of a preexisting injury or disease, its mere existence at the time of a subsequent injury is not a defense.  Rose v. John Deere Ottumwa Works, 247 Iowa 900, 76 N.W.2d 756 (1956).  If the claimant had a preexisting condition or disability that is materially aggravated, accelerated, worsened or lighted up so that it results in disability, claimant is entitled to recover.  Nicks v. Davenport Produce Co., 254 Iowa 130, 115 N.W.2d 812 (1962); Yeager v. Firestone Tire & Rubber Co., 253 Iowa 369, 112 N.W.2d 299 (1961).

The claimant has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the injury is a proximate cause of the disability on which the claim is based.  A cause is proximate if it is a substantial factor in bringing about the result; it need not be the only cause.  A preponderance of the evidence exists when the causal connection is probable rather than merely possible.  George A. Hormel & Co. v. Jordan, 569 N.W.2d 148 (Iowa 1997); Frye v. Smith-Doyle Contractors, 569 N.W.2d 154 (Iowa App. 1997); Sanchez v. Blue Bird Midwest, 554 N.W.2d 283 (Iowa App. 1996).

The question of causal connection is essentially within the domain of expert testimony.  The expert medical evidence must be considered with all other evidence introduced bearing on the causal connection between the injury and the disability.  Supportive lay testimony may be used to buttress the expert testimony and, therefore, is also relevant and material to the causation question.  The weight to be given to an expert opinion is determined by the finder of fact and may be affected by the accuracy of the facts the expert relied upon as well as other surrounding circumstances.  The expert opinion may be accepted or rejected, in whole or in part.  St. Luke’s Hosp. v. Gray, 604 N.W.2d 646 (Iowa 2000); IBP, Inc. v. Harpole, 621 N.W.2d 410 (Iowa 2001); Dunlavey v. Economy Fire and Cas. Co., 526 N.W.2d 845 (Iowa 1995).  Miller v. Lauridsen Foods, Inc., 525 N.W.2d 417 (Iowa 1994).  Unrebutted expert medical testimony cannot be summarily rejected.  Poula v. Siouxland Wall & Ceiling, Inc., 516 N.W.2d 910 (Iowa App. 1994).

Three physicians, Drs. Gorsche, Delbridge, and Neff, have addressed the question of whether claimant’s left shoulder and left carpal tunnel conditions are causally related to her work for defendant.  Causation regarding claimant’s left shoulder condition will be addressed first.    

All three physicians opined claimant suffered with calcific supraspinatus tendonitis of the left shoulder.  None of the three opined claimant’s work duties caused the condition.  Therefore, the argument of a direct causal relationship between the calcific tendonitis and claimant’s work duties is rejected.  Having rejected a direct causal link, the undersigned must determine if claimant’s work duties materially aggravated, accelerated, worsened or lighted up claimant’s left shoulder condition such that it resulted in disability.  

Claimant relies upon the opinion of orthopedic surgeon, Dr. Delbridge.  Dr. Delbridge opined while he could not know when the calcium deposits manifested, claimant’s repetitive work duties resulted in pain, weakness, and decreased range of motion.  He opined claimant’s work “probably” caused tendonitis, decreased range of motion and pain.  Dr. Delbridge opined claimant demonstrated an impingement syndrome in the shoulder and highlighted what he described as “extremely repetitive” work duties.  Due to these factors, Dr. Delbridge opined it probable claimant’s work motions materially aggravated the existing degenerative calcified tendon to the degree she was required to miss work and undergo surgery.          

Defendant relies upon the opinions of original treating orthopedic surgeon, Dr. Gorsche, and IME physician, Dr. Neff, also an orthopedic surgeon.  Dr. Gorsche opined while claimant’s repetitive work duties may have temporarily exacerbated claimant’s underlying calcific supraspinatus tendonitis, the work duties did not physically worsen claimant’s left shoulder condition.  Dr. Gorsche explained such calcium deposits generally occur in individuals over 40 years of age and may be associated with mild to moderate degeneration of the tendon.  He further indicated the deposits themselves can cause mild to moderate pain.  Dr. Gorsche explained this condition can be associated with a degenerative rotator cuff tear, which claimant did not demonstrate.  Similarly, the condition can be aggravated with an impingement syndrome and a type 3 acromion.  Dr. Gorsche opined claimant did not demonstrate such impingement and had a type 1 acromion.  He also opined aggravation may occur in instances of degenerative changes of the AC joint causing impingement on the rotator cuff, which claimant did not demonstrate.  Finally, Dr. Gorsche indicated such a condition could be aggravated by repetitive forward flexion above 90 degrees or abduction above 90 degrees; he opined he observed neither in review of the video footage provided.  Ultimately, Dr. Gorsche opined claimant presented with calcific tendonitis which caused pain, but no evidence suggested the condition related in any way to claimant’s job duties nor was aggravated by those duties.  

Dr. Neff opined the calcific supraspinatus tendonitis itself was the main cause of claimant’s pain.  Following review of video of the shave hams component of claimant’s job, Dr. Neff opined he observed no use of significant force and no work at or above shoulder level.  Dr. Neff opined these duties would not cause or materially aggravate an injury to claimant’s left upper extremity and did not contribute to claimant’s need for left shoulder surgery.  

On complicated issues of causation, medical opinions are of paramount importance and the opinions must be carefully analyzed.  While there are potential concerns which may be identified with regard to each physician, the undersigned is troubled by Dr. Delbridge’s repeated post-surgery references to claimant sustaining a rotator cuff tear.  In fact, he ordered physical therapy noting such a tear, and a history of rotator cuff tear is noted in each of claimant’s post-surgery physical therapy records.  Claimant’s MRI of May 2010 specifically found no rotator cuff tear, and Dr. Delbridge’s operative note makes no reference to a torn rotator cuff.

Claimant argues she only demonstrated her job duties for Dr. Delbridge, thus his causation opinion should be entitled to the greatest weight.  Similarly, she argues the video reviewed by Drs. Gorsche and Neff was misleading, as it only demonstrates one aspect of her job, and therefore, their opinions should be discounted.  Although claimant credibly testified she only demonstrated her job duties for Dr. Delbridge, she testified she described her duties to both Drs. Gorsche and Neff.  While the video viewed by Drs. Gorsche and Neff depicted only one portion of claimant’s job, Ms. Jones testified the shaving line is ergonomically arranged so as to require similar movements in each of the three steps in the process.  Claimant herself described the shaving line in a very similar manner to Ms. Jones.  While the undersigned is troubled by only providing the physicians with video of one of three aspects of claimant’s position, it is found that claimant failed to prove the remaining two aspects of the job varied so greatly as to render this evidence misleading and faulty.  

Furthermore, the explanation provided by Dr. Gorsche of claimant’s left shoulder condition and potential aggravating factors includes far greater detail than that provided by the other physicians.  Although not as detailed as Dr. Gorsche’s, the explanation offered by Dr. Neff is entirely consistent with that of Dr. Gorsche.  It is true neither physician specifically cited sources for their information; the undersigned finds doing so unnecessary, as each physician is allowed to rely upon his own medical judgment.  Furthermore, each physician provided consistent accounts of medical literature and reached the same causation opinion.  

While Dr. Delbridge acted as claimant’s surgeon and provided extended treatment, Dr. Delbridge’s explanation supporting his causation opinion lacks detail.  It is true he described claimant’s work duties; however, in this matter, causation proved a confusing issue.  Simply describing claimant’s duties as “extremely repetitive” and summarily concluding such duties resulted in increased symptomatology does not provide the undersigned with sufficient explanation for Dr. Delbridge’s reasoning.  Dr. Delbridge’s opinion is therefore entitled to lesser weight than that of Drs. Gorsche and Neff.  

While claimant’s claim that her work duties materially aggravated her calcific tendonitis of the left shoulder is plausible, mere plausibility is insufficient to meet claimant’s burden of proof.  It is determined claimant failed to meet her burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the alleged injury to claimant’s left shoulder on March 24, 2010 arose out of and in the course of her employment.  

Next, the undersigned must determine if claimant proved she sustained left carpal tunnel syndrome arising out of and in the course of her employment with defendant.  As with the analysis of claimant’s left shoulder, opinions of medical professionals are of paramount importance in determining if claimant established she developed carpal tunnel syndrome as a result of her work duties at defendant.  

Two physicians, Dr. Delbridge and Dr. Neff, supplied causation opinions.  Dr. Delbridge opined claimant developed left carpal tunnel syndrome as a result of extremely repetitive job duties.  Dr. Neff initially opined claimant’s repetitive work substantially contributed to development of left carpal tunnel syndrome.  However, following review of video evidence depicting the shave hams job, Dr. Neff opined claimant’s work duties did not likely contribute to development of carpal tunnel syndrome, as the duties required no forced flexion, intense grip or rotation, abnormal hand position, or intense force, pushing, or cutting.
Analysis of this issue with regard to claimant’s carpal tunnel syndrome is much alike the analysis with regard to claimant’s alleged left shoulder injury.  Claimant’s claim is plausible.  Ultimately, however, this matter becomes a battle of the experts.  While Dr. Delbridge acted as claimant’s treating provider and Dr. Neff simply performed a one-time evaluation, the undersigned finds Dr. Delbridge’s opinions conclusory and without detailed explanation.  As was the case with the left shoulder condition, Dr. Delbridge summarily relates claimant’s left carpal tunnel syndrome to her extremely repetitious job duties.  However, he provides no additional explanation to support his opinion.  While Dr. Neff initially opined similarly based upon patient history, upon review of video evidence of claimant’s duties, Dr. Neff changed his opinion.  When he so changed his opinion, he explained his rationale for doing so, relying upon the lack of forced flexion, intense grip or rotation, abnormal hand position, or intense force, pushing, or cutting.  While claimant believes this video evidence misleading, for the reasons set forth supra, that argument is rejected.  

Due to the superior explanation provided by Dr. Neff to support his opinion, it is determined the opinion of Dr. Neff is entitled to greater weight.  Having determined the opinion of Dr. Neff is entitled to greater weight, it is found claimant failed to prove a causal relationship between her work duties and the development of left carpal tunnel syndrome.  Accordingly, it is determined claimant failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that her left carpal tunnel syndrome arose out of and in the course of her employment on March 24, 2010.  

Having determined claimant failed to meet her burden of proving she sustained an injury on March 24, 2010 arising out of and in the course of her employment with defendant, issues of claimant’s entitlement to temporary and permanent disability benefits, rate of compensation, entitlement to penalty benefits, and payment of medical expenses are moot.   

The next issue for determination is whether claimant is entitled to payment of an independent medical evaluation under Iowa Code section 85.39.  

Section 85.39 permits an employee to be reimbursed for subsequent examination by a physician of the employee's choice where an employer-retained physician has previously evaluated “permanent disability” and the employee believes that the initial evaluation is too low.  The section also permits reimbursement for reasonably necessary transportation expenses incurred and for any wage loss occasioned by the employee attending the subsequent examination.
Defendants are responsible only for reasonable fees associated with claimant's independent medical examination.  Claimant has the burden of proving the reasonableness of the expenses incurred for the examination.  See Schintgen v. Economy Fire & Casualty Co., File No. 855298 (App. April 26, 1991).  Claimant need not ultimately prove the injury arose out of and in the course of employment to qualify for reimbursement under section 85.39.  See Dodd v. Fleetguard, Inc., 759 N.W.2d 133, 140 (Iowa App. 2008).

It is determined claimant is not entitled to payment of an IME, as the prerequisites of section 85.39 were not met.  Specifically, in order to be entitled to an IME at defendant’s cost, there must first be an opinion on the extent of claimant’s permanent disability by a physician retained by defendant.  In this instance, no such opinion was obtained prior to claimant securing the opinion of Dr. Delbridge.  Accordingly, claimant is not entitled to payment of an IME.  

The final issue for determination is a specific taxation of costs pursuant to Iowa Code section 86.40 and 876 IAC 4.33.  Claimant requests taxation of the cost of the $100.00 filing fee.  As claimant has proven unsuccessful in establishing she sustained an injury on March 24, 2010 arising out of and in the course of her employment with defendant, taxation of the cost of this action to defendant is inappropriate.  Claimant is not entitled to taxation of the cost of filing fee.

ORDER

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED:

Claimant shall take nothing from these proceedings. 

Defendant shall file subsequent reports of injury as required by this agency pursuant to rule 876 IAC 3.1(2).

Costs are taxed to claimant pursuant to 876 IAC 4.33 as set forth in this decision.  
Signed and filed this _____14th________ day of April, 2014.
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